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‘Cleveland Asylum Chapel’

Val Harrison

In spite of its rapid growth, Victorian Middlesbrough was slow to provide care for the mentally ill within its boundaries. Only when an Act of Parliament of 1894 extended the duty of care to County Boroughs did Middlesbrough go ahead with building its own mental hospital. This was the Cleveland Asylum, later known as St. Luke’s Hospital, which occupied a site south of the town on Marton Road. It was opened in 1898, as a large, self-sufficient community with its own staff accommodation as well as patients’ wards, its own workshops, mortuary, and even its own farm.


Val Harrison has long been interested in the Cleveland Asylum, since several members of her family used to work there. She provides the reader with a useful background regarding national provision for mental illness during the 19th century. She introduces us to the early Victorian asylum reformer John Connolly and the late Victorian specialist asylum architect George Thomas Hine. The more enlightened views of such figures were reflected in the legal requirement that every mental hospital must a have a chapel and in the general guidelines issued by the Commissioners in Lunacy. It is the chapel at Cleveland Asylum that the author turns her attention to, although at the time of her research it was derelict, unsafe and awaiting demolition. What she found was that, when first built, the Cleveland Asylum Chapel was a model of the latest thinking on mental health provision. The new chapel could seat more than 200 people, well beyond the Commissioners’ requirement of accommodating three-fifth of the patients. The architect was C.H.Howell, regarded as the leading asylum architect of his day. He chose the Early English style, similar to St. Cuthbert’s Church in Middlesbrough which was being planned at this time. It was a popular revival style, being deeply ingrained in the public mind as thoroughly Christian and “church-like”. The author points out that the lack of ornament and elaboration of the Early English style was felt to be appropriate to the patients’ senses, although she suspects that the economics of this simple style might also have been a factor in the choice. The church had four entrances and, in the early days, male and female patients entered by opposite doors and were separated by the central aisle during services. An insight into the thinking of the authorities is provided by the planting of evergreen climbers to relieve the bare walls of the hospital and its chapel.


Music was also considered to be an important part of hospital life, so the Cleveland Asylum turned to the renowned Durham firm of Harrison and Harrison to build an organ for the chapel. This was the company that supplied the organ for Westminster Abbey. One of the hospital staff was a sufficiently competent musician, and he was appointed as organist for the chapel with an allowance of £10 per annum on top of his £29 wages. Val Harrison gives a fascinating insight into a forgotten attitude of mind, referring to job advertisements for asylums elsewhere where it was stated that experience was not necessary, but musicians were preferred. As might be expected, just over half of the initial intake of patients at the Cleveland Asylum was Anglican, but Middlesbrough was a town with a strong Roman Catholic and Methodist presence, and that too was reflected in the makeup of the first intake. The first three chaplains appointed to the asylum chapel were all vicars of the nearby St. Cuthbert’s Church in Marton. There were services on Sundays and Tuesdays and the chaplain visited the wards every week. A Roman Catholic priest was listed as one of the “Officers of the Asylum” from 1901 onwards.


There were several name changes in the first quarter of the 20th century. The Cleveland Asylum was renamed Middlesbrough Mental Hospital in 1914 while in 1924 the chapel was dedicated as St. Luke’s Church. Two years later the hospital became St. Luke’s. Drawing together recollections of former hospital staff and her own research and observations Val Harrison recreates the scene during the middle years of the 20th century as those patients who opted for Sunday services were gathered together and walked through the hospital grounds to the quiet corner where the chapel stood. Some patients opted to attend more than one service, to give themselves a change of scene. This was not unheard of in the population at large at the time, when people would occasionally attend a church other than their own. In the 1970s and 80s some patients who were thought able to do some light work would clean the chapel on Friday mornings, after which there would be a service.


The author can find no record of when the last service was held at the Cleveland Asylum Chapel. Staff recollections tend to place it as 1993 or thereabouts. There may have been a falling off in attendance, as in the wider populace, while more patients were cared for in the community, and voluntary patients of a strong faith would join their families in their own parish church on a Sunday.  The chapel itself was in need of structural repairs which would have been difficult to justify if attendance was falling. A “multi faith room” was opened in the main hospital building in the 1990s and the old chapel was demolished in 2007. Val Harrison concludes her study by considering the history of the chapel in the context of national trends regarding the spiritual needs of mental health patients throughout the 20th century and into the 21st.  
